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The present structure of Immaculate Conception Church is vernacular, accidental and
eclectic. It has evolved over a period of years, primarily from 1904 through 1928,

The nucleus of the present structure is the original rough frame house built

hastily in September-October 1904, The site of that original structure was approximately
400 feet south of the present site, on the south bank of the Chena River. That was the
first Roman Catholic church built in the interior of Alaska.

The original structure was of rough finished lumber, primarily of local origin. It
measured 30 by 65 feet. That first autumn and winter there was no painting or finishing
work -~ little physical evidence to give the building identification as a church. The
total cost of construction was $6,512. The following spring and summer the living
quarters were decorated and a library and reading room were opened.

In 1906 a church affiliated hospital was built across the river, set back several
hundred feet from the river bank, which was occuped by a sawmill. A decision to move
the church to the far bank of the river, to replace the sawmill, was executed in 1911.
The church acquired the sawmill location. The old structures were torn down, the
building site was cleared, basement area excavated, and a foundation frame was pre-
pared to receive the original structure.

- In late October 1911 the church on the south bank of the Chena was raised from its

" original foundation and prepared for relocation, at the same time the new site was

- being prepared to receive it. The contractor engaged for the moving job intended to
“.bridge the river and move the building across the bridge. The cleric in charge thought
'~ otherwise and undertook the project himself.

The river had to be crossed diagonally, a distance of more than 400 feet. Two
Parallel lines were drawn on the ice, 30 feet apart, from one bank to the other, on
the path along which the movement would take place. Holes were cut into the ice every
8 feet along each of these lines. Log sections were wedged into these holes and let
freeze. The logs then were sawed to a height 2 feet above the ice to serve as piers
to support the timber tracks on which the structure was rolled across the river, from
the south bank to the north bank.

The north bank was steep, so the last stép of the transit across the river was to raise
the church 25 feet frumthe river's surface to the top of the newly prepared foundation.
The move was executed and completed in mid-November. The weather, which had remained
mild, turned bitterly cold, once the structure was set upon its new site. This structure
has since served as the core for the subsequent development of the present main church
structure,

In the spring of 1912 the rough basement excavation beneath the church was built into
a parish hall and a separate residence building was constructed, leaving the church
to serve wholly as a place of religious and ceremonial functions. Electric wiring
was installed the summer of 1912,
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

In August 1904 the Rev. Fraréils Monrce. S.J., received orders at 8t. Michael, Alaska,
to proceed to the gold rush camp at Fairbanks on the Chena River, and to build there
a church to serve the emergent community. The discovery of gold in the Fairbanks
area in 1902 had drawn prospectors from the boom towns that had emerged in the
Klondike to the east and from Nome to the northwest. The town was in its second
booming season. Choice lots in the center of the most occupied area of the town were
no longer available. Father Monroe located a lot along the Chena River at the end
of the built up area. His site had one most desireable characteristic. It lay along
the main road to the major placer mining creeks.

Father Monroe begged funds to build his church and raised $3,051.00 by the time he
had secured a site. The following summer he raised an additional $4,795.75, by
continuing his personal solicitations, while traveling all over the placer creeks

in his ministry. These funds paid for finishing the church inside and out, and for
beginning the library and reading room.

When the impetus of the gold rush abated, the character of Fairbanks which emerged
proved different from most other boom towns of the Klondike-Alaska gold rush era.

- Fairbanks had developed significant characteristics of permanency, which few other
gold rush towns had. This element of permanency included her churches and their
institutions, including the Immaculate Conception Church.

Construction of the hospital, across the river, was begun in 1906, also in response
to vital needs of the emerging community. The subsequent move of the original

church structure in 1911, across the Chena River to the hospital area, was designed
to consolidate the main community services of the church onto contiguous sites. Even
travel across the river was to be avoided during the long bitter cold winter months,
which included twenty-hour nights at -60° f. So, the buildings were moved together.
The functions of the hospital, the priests' residence, and parachial school
(originally occupying the church basement), were then centralized in contiguous
buildings.

The embellishment and decoration of the church, and the permanent additions and
decorations over the years, reflected a constant level of increasing activity in
support of the community's needs. The construction of military bases near Fairbanks
during and after World War II -- Ladd Field (later Fort Wainwright) and Eielson Air
Force Base -~ called for additional support from the civilian religious community,
and stimulated still further the role of the church in the growth of Fairbanks.
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Major additional construction was undertaken in the spring of 1914. The single-centre
church tower and spire was built and a vestibule or lobby added to the front of the
structure, separating the entry function from the main chapel. The walls were raised
five feet in height, and the roof, while being elevated, was raised in pitch from 40°

to 45°. A gallery was built for the choir, and the entire church was refinished with
pressed decorative metal. :

The stained glass windows were installed during the years 1926-1928, and major work
of landscaping and planting of the lawn was completed. These renovations presented
the church with the appearance and structure it retains to this time.

GPO 892 455
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